IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, o/b/o AMELIA PRESTON, et al.,

Petitioner,	CASE NO.: SC04-1045
vs.	
JAMES (WILLIE) CUMMINGS, et al.,	
Respondents.	
	_/

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

An Appeal From The Second District Court Of Appeal DCA CASE NOS. 2D02-5261; 2D02-5279; 2D02-5318; 2D02-5333; 2D02-5277; 2D02-5264

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM H. BRANCH

Assistant Attorney General Bar No. 401552 Office of the Attorney General Child Support Enforcement The Capitol, Plaza 01 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal arises from six separate paternity actions that were filed in the circuit court of Pinellas County, Florida. The cases were consolidated for the purposes of appeal before the Second District Court of Appeal.

The Department of Revenue was the plaintiff or petitioner in each of the cases below, and brought each paternity action on behalf of the respective mother in each case.

Since there were six separate paternity cases, there were six separate defendants or respondents below.

The petitioner, Department of Revenue, will be referred to herein as DOR.

Reference to the record on appeal will be as follows: R- followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal involves six separate paternity cases that were filed in the Pinellas County Circuit Court. The cases were consolidated for the purposes of appeal before the Second District Court of Appeal based upon their similar factual and legal issues.

Each case involves a paternity action in which DOR is seeking to establish paternity of a "biological" father, and in which at the time of the filing of the complaint to determine paternity there was a "legal" father, or husband.

In each case, a Complaint to Establish Paternity, Child Support and Other Relief Without Affecting Legal Rights of Husband or Mother at Time of Birth was filed.

Each complaint alleges that the named respondent in the complaint is the biological father of the named minor child.

Each complaint refers to an affidavit being attached to the complaint that contains facts alleging a basis for the belief that the named respondent is the biological father of the child in question. Each of the identified "affidavits" is entitled "Complaint to Establish Paternity, Child Support and for other Relief." Each of the "affidavits" sets forth the facts illustrating the sexual relations between the mother and the alleged biological father support the claim of paternity.

Each complaint provides, "The mother of the minor child[ren] was married to a man other than the Respondent at the time the child(ren) was conceived or born, but

Petitioners do not seek to affect any legal rights relating to this child(ren) said individual may possess."

The relief sought by each of the complaints was to establish the named respondent as the biological father of the named minor child, and to establish the child support obligation of the named biological father. None of the complaints requested any relief regarding the parental rights, obligations, or legal rights of the man to whom the mother was married at the time of the conception or birth of the child.

In conjunction with the filing of the complaint to determine paternity and the attached affidavit, DOR also filed a Notice of Action to Legal Father. Each of the notices to the legal father are identical. The notice states

YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that the above-styled action has been filed to determine the paternity of the child(ren) born on the dates indicated in the Complaint to determine paternity and Exhibits attached thereto, a copy of which is attached. In filing this action, Petitioners seek to have the named Respondent ordered to pay child support for the child(ren) who are the subject of this action. YOU ARE NOT THE NAMED RESPONDENT. If you were legally married to the mother named in the Complaint at the time of the child(ren) was either conceived or born, you may have legal rights or responsibilities you wish to assert.

Although in filing this action the Petitioners do not seek to affect any rights yo may possess, YOU SHOULD CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OF YOUR OWN CHOOSING WITH REGARD TO YOUR RIGHTS AND POTENTIAL RESPONSIBILITIES. Your failure to file a pleading and/or attend a hearing in this cause will be interpreted as your having no objection to the Respondent being adjudicated to be the biological father of the named child(ren).

Each of the notices was sent to the legal fathers by U.S. mail.

In each of the cases an order was entered Setting Status Conference Re "Complaint To Establish Paternity, Child Support And Other Relief Without Affecting Legal Rights Of Husband Of Mother At Time Of Birth." The order was entered pursuant to the trial court's own motion for the purpose "to allow the Department of Revenue to present argument on the issues raised including whether the legal father is an indispensable party to the litigation, whether the requirements of Privette, supra, must be met in these types of cases, and the other issues discussed in R.H.B. v. J.B.W., supra."

The status conference hearing on all of the consolidated cases was held on June 6, 2002.

On June 10, 2002, an Order Requiring Inclusion As Indispensable Party The Legal Father was entered. All of the consolidated cases were addressed by the order. The court found that the legal father in each of the six consolidated cases was an indispensable party to the paternity action.

The June 10, 2002, order was appealed. However, the appeal was subsequently dismissed so that an appealable final order could entered.

On October 21 2002, an Order of Dismissal was entered in all six cases. In its order, the court acknowledged that the First District Court of Appeal had issued a

decision in *Department of Revenue o/b/o Baggs v. Pate*, 824 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). The court stated that *Pate* was not persuasive on the issue of whether a legal father is an indispensable party.

The orders were timely appealed, and subsequently consolidated for review before the Second District Court of Appeal.

On May 12, 2004, the Second District Court of Appeal issued its opinion. Department of Revenue o/b/o Preston v. Cummings, 871 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). The district court held:

[W]e conclude that when the Department seeks to establish the paternity of a child born during the mother's marriage to another man, the notice and opportunity to be heard that must be provided to a legal father pursuant to Privette will generally require the joinder of the legal father as an indispensable party, unless the factual allegations in the complaint conclusively establish the legal father's rights have already been divested by an earlier judgment.

The *Cummings* court found that its decision was in direct and express conflict with the First District Court of Appeal's decision in *Department of Revenue o/b/o Baggs v. Pate*, 824 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). The Second District Court of Appeal's decision was timely appealed to this court.

The factual and procedural history of this case is further set forth in the written opinion in *Department of Revenue o/b/o Preston v. Cummings*, 871 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In *Department of Revenue o/b/o Preston v. Cummings*, 871 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), the Second District Court of Appeal held that a legal father is an indispensable party to a paternity action against the alleged biological father. The *Cummings* decision expressly conflicts with *Department of Revenue o/b/o Baggs v. Pate*, 824 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). Furthermore, *Cummings* fails to follow this court's decision in *Dept. of Health and Rehab. Services v. Privette*, 617 So.2d 305 (Fla. 1993).

A paternity action can be brought against an alleged biological father notwithstanding the existence of a legal presumption that another person is the father of the child. *Gammon v. Cobb*, 335 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1976), *R.H.B. v. J.B.W.* 826 So.2d 346 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

A paternity action is filed to adjudicate a person who will be legally responsible to support the subject child. *D.F. v. Department of Revenue*, 736 So.2d 782 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)

"An indispensable party has been defined as one without whom the rights of others cannot be determined." *Bastida v. Batchelor*, 418 So.2d 297, 299 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). In the present appeal, in each of the consolidated cases, a complete and equitable adjudication of the limited issues raised by the paternity action can be made

without joining the legal father as a party to the action. None of the paternity actions before this court for review involve parental rights issues such as custody or visitation, so no indispensable party issue exists. The alleged biological father's child support obligation can be established without the joinder of the presumed legal father.

In each of the six paternity cases before this court, DOR prepared and mailed a notice to the husband informing him of the existing paternity action. The notice provided to each of the husbands is in accordance with *Dept. of Health and Rehab*. *Services v. Privette*, 617 So.2d 305 (Fla. 1993), and federal and state constitutional due process requirements. Providing notice to the husband provided him the opportunity to intervene in the paternity action and to be heard. None of the husbands expressed any desire to have any relationship at all with the child that was the subject of the related paternity action.

Only the biological parentage and the financial obligation of the alleged biological father is at issue in each of the six paternity actions. Since no non-financial parental rights regarding custody, visitation, or other parental prerogatives are at issue, the imposition of the support obligation does not prejudice the husbands. Therefore, they are not indispensable parties to the paternity action.

The First District Court of Appeal has decided the question at issue. In *Pitcairn v. Vowell*, 580 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), the court held that the legal

father/husband is not an indispensable party to an action seeking to determine that another man is the biological father of the child in order to obtain financial support from that man. The court affirmed this holding in *Department of Revenue o/b/o Baggs v. Pate*, 824 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

In *Dept. of Health and Rehab. Services v. Privette*, 617 So.2d 305, 307 (Fla. 1993), the Florida Supreme Court stated that the father need only "be given <u>notice</u> of the hearing either actually if he is available or constructively if otherwise; and he must be heard if he wishes to argue personally or through counsel."

The husbands in the six consolidated cases on appeal are not as a matter of law indispensable parties to their respective paternity actions. The Second District Court's decision in *Department of Revenue o/b/o Preston v. Cummings*, 871 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER A HUSBAND, AS THE LEGAL FATHER OF A CHILD BORN DURING WEDLOCK, IS AN INDISPENSABLE PARTY TO A PATERNITY ACTION NAMING ANOTHER MAN AS THE BIOLOGICAL FATHER OF THAT MINOR CHILD.

The standard of appellate review is de novo. The issue before this court for resolution is whether a legal father is an indispensable party to a paternity action brought by the Department of Revenue, pursuant to its statutory obligations, against a different putative biological father. (Throughout this brief, "legal father" will mean the man to whom the mother was married at the time of the birth of the minor child who is the subject of the paternity action. In each of the six consolidated cases before this court for review, the mother and husband remained married at the time of the filing of the paternity action against another alleged biological father. However, the mother and husband were no longer living together in an intact family relationship.)

This case comes before this court on the basis of the court's conflict jurisdiction. The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in *Department of Revenue on behalf of Preston v. Cummings*, 871 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) directly and expressly conflicts with the First District Court of Appeal's decision in *Department of Revenue o/b/o Baggs v. Pate*, 824 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). The *Cummings* court held that the legal father is an indispensable party. Whereas, the

Pate court, relying upon this court's decision in *Dept. of Health and Rehab. Services* v. *Privette*, 617 So.2d 305 (Fla. 1993), held the legal father is not an indispensable party to such a paternity proceeding.

The Cummings court held,

Our conclusion requires us to conflict with *Pate*, 824 So.2d 1038... [W]e conclude that when the Department seeks to establish the paternity of a child born during the mother's marriage to another man, the notice and opportunity to be heard that must be provided to a legal father pursuant to Privette will generally require the joinder of the legal father as an indispensable party, unless the factual allegations in the complaint conclusively establish the legal father's rights have already been divested by an earlier judgment.

Id., at page 1062.

The *Cummings* court's decisions states that it is ruling in accordance with this court's decision in *Dept. of Health and Rehab. Services v. Privette*, 617 So.2d 305 (Fla. 1993). DOR disagrees with the *Cummings* court's interpretation of *Privette*. Instead, DORcontends that *Privette* must be interpreted to hold that a legal father is not an indispensable party to the types of paternity actions before this court for review.

When provided with the opportunity in *Privette* to rule on the indispensable party issue, this court did not find that the legal father was an indispensable party. However, the *Cummings* court has narrowly construed *Privette* on this issue, and in

doing so, has failed to follow *Privette*. *Cummings* justifies its limitation of *Privette* by stating *Privette* only involved a paternity test order. However, the underlying action in *Privette* was a paternity case involving both a legal father and an alleged biological father; the same fact pattern as the six consolidated cases before this court for review. Therefore, *Privette's* discussion of indispensable parties to paternity actions should have been followed by *Cummings*.

"An indispensable party has been defined as one without whom the rights of others cannot be determined." Bastida v. Batchelor, 418 So.2d 297, 299 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). An indispensable party is "one whose interest will be substantially and directly affected by the outcome of the case" and "one whose interest in the subject matter is such that if he is not joined a complete and efficient determination of the equities and rights between the other parties is not possible." Amerada Hess Corp. v. Morgan, 426 So.2d 1122, 1125 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Allman v. Wolf, 592 So.2d 1261, 1263 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992). A party is only deemed indispensable when it is absolutely necessary to protect substantial rights and only after the facts clearly establish that no complete and equitable adjudication of the controversy can be made in the party's absence. A party is not indispensable simply because his presence would aid in the adjudication of the paternity action. Pursuant to these definitions, a legal father is not an indispensable party to a paternity action when the paternity

proceeding involves only the narrow issue of paternity, and not other parenting related issues, such as custody and visitation.

Florida law provides that a paternity action can be brought against an alleged biological father notwithstanding the existence of a legal presumption that another person is the father of the child. Gammon v. Cobb, 335 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1976), R.H.B. v. J.B.W. 826 So.2d 346 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). The presumption is not intended to allow a biological father to avoid his support obligation. Generally, a paternity action is filed to adjudicate a person who will be legally responsible to support the subject child. D.F. v. Department of Revenue, 736 So.2d 782 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), approved D.F. v. Department of Revenue ex rel. L.F., 823 So.2d 97 (Fla. 2002). The major objective of a paternity action is to enforce the responsible father's duty to financially support his child. Mocher v. Rasmussen-Taxdal, 180 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965). de Moya v. de Pena, 148 So.2d 735 (Fla. 3d DCA.1963). The paternity statute provides the basis on which the court may order child support from a man adjudicated to be the biological father of a child. Kendrick v. Everhart, 390 So.2d 53 (Fla. 1980).

DOR contends that for purposes of the establishment of a child support obligation against an alleged biological father, the interests of the legal father and the subject matter are not so interrelated and would not be so directly affected by a

paternity judgment against the actual biological father so that a complete and equitable adjudication of the limited issues raised by the paternity action could not be made absent joinder of the husband to the action.

In the six cases before the court, DOR's action to establish paternity is a remedial action designed to correct the economic disadvantages placed upon the child by the absence of a legally establish child support obligation. Recognizing this fact the Florida Legislature made this declaration of legislative intent in section 405.2551, Florida Statutes:

...In order to render resources more immediately available to meet the needs of dependent children, it is the legislative intent that the remedies provided herein are in addition to, and not in lieu of, existing remedies. It is declared to be the public policy of this state that this act be construed and administered to the end that children shall be maintained from the resources of their parents, thereby relieving, at least in part, the burden presently borne by the general citizenry through public assistance programs.

The department has a responsibility to ensure that children shall be maintained from the resources of their parents, unless otherwise ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction.

The Department is designated as the Florida Title IV-D agency. § 409.2557(2), F.S. (2004) states:

The department in its capacity as the state Title IV-D agency shall have the authority to take actions necessary to carry out the public policy of ensuring that children are maintained from the resources of their parents to the extent possible. The department's authority shall include, but not be limited to, the establishment of paternity or support obligations, as well as the modification, enforcement, and collection of support obligations.

DOR brought these paternity actions pursuant to its statutory obligations mandating it establish paternity and obtain support orders against biological fathers. Chapter 409.2551 - 409.25995, F.S., limits DOR's legal activities to those that are eligible for federal financial participation under Title IV-D of the Social Security Act. The legal activities eligible for financial participation in Department of Revenue child support enforcement program cases are the establishment of paternity and child support obligations, and the enforcement and modification of child support obligations. DOR can not use Title IV-D funds to litigate issues involving parenting rights and responsibilities, such as the right to parent the child, the right to direct the child's activities, right to make decisions about the child, or rights of custody and Therefore, the establishment of paternity as the prerequisite to the visitation. establishment of a support obligation is an activity eligible for federal financial participation. The primary objective of the Title IV-D program in filing a petition to establish paternity and support is the entry of a court order requiring financial support for the child. These objectives can be met against the biological father without substantially and directly affecting the parenting rights of the legal father, such that the legal father is not an indispensable party to the paternity action.

In each of the cases before this court, the mother, who was married to the legal father at the time of the birth of the child, provided information to DOR identifying a man other than the legal father as the actual biological father of the child in question. Such information is solely within the knowledge of the mother. Based upon that information, and in accordance with its statutory obligations, DOR was obligated to sue the putative father for paternity, notwithstanding the existence of the legal father. Not only was DOR meeting its statutory obligations, it was following the rule of law established by this court that a legal father does not have an obligation to provide financial support to a child that is not his biological child, adopted child, or one for whom he has contracted to support. *Daniel v. Daniel*, 695 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 1997).

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