SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1045

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, o/b/o AMELIA PRESTON, et al.,

Petitioner,

vs.

JAMES (WILLIE) CUMMINGS, et al.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT CASE NOS. 2D02-5261, 2D02-5279, 2D02-5318, 2D02-5333 2D02-5277 and 2D02-5264

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM Fla. Bar No. 194435 LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM, P.A. 4300 Bayou Boulevard, Suite 36 Pensacola, Florida 32503 (850) 475-1211 (850) 475-1290 (fax)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For several reasons, the district court correctly determined that the legal father is an indispensable party who must be joined in an action filed by the Department against the biological father to determine paternity and establish child support pursuant to section 409.2564(1), Florida Statutes (2000), unless the legal father's parental rights and obligations have been divested by an earlier judgment.

First, the Department filed the complaints in these cases "to secure the obligor's payment of current support" § 409.2564(1), Fla. Stat. (2000). Because the legal father is obligated to support his minor child as long as he remains in loco parentis, he is an "obligor" under section 409.2564(1) and therefore must be named as an indispensable party in the Department's action.

Second, the legal fathers' parental rights in these cases may be adversely impaired by the Department's paternity proceedings. The legal fathers also may have a strong interest in preventing their children from suffering the stigma of illegitimacy which would result if the court enters judgments in these cases determining that the biological fathers are the children's actual fathers.

Third, although the notices of action mailed by the Department to the legal fathers in these cases gave them an opportunity to be heard, the notices were insufficient to protect their parental rights because they did not confer the status of "party" with the right to call and cross-examine witnesses and, if necessary, appeal

4

an adverse decision. Also, unless the legal fathers are joined as parties, the court's judgment will not have preclusive effect against them under the doctrine of res judicata, which could lead to additional litigation which certainly will not promote the children's best interests.

Finally, the second district's holding in this case is narrowly drawn—it does not require the Department to join the legal father as an indispensable party in every case of this type. If the pleadings establish conclusively that the legal father's parental rights have been divested by an earlier judgment, his joinder is unnecessary.

ARGUMENT

A.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Respondents agree with the Department that the issue in this case is one of law reviewed by the court de novo. <u>See Blanton v. City of Pinellas Park</u>, No. SC03-1685, 2004 WL 2359991, at *1 (Fla. Oct. 21, 2004) ("The trial court's ruling, which was based on a question of law, is reviewed by this Court de novo.").

B.

INDISPENSABLE PARTIES

The issue in this case is whether the "legal father" is an indispensable party to an action filed against the "biological father" by the Department of Revenue to determine paternity and establish child support pursuant to section 409.2564(1), Florida Statutes (2000). In this brief, the term "legal father" refers to the man who was married to the mother on the child's date of birth and whose name appears as the father on the child's birth certificate as mandated by section 382.013(2)(a), Florida Statutes (2000).¹ See Department of Health & Rehabilitative Servs. v. Privette, 617 So. 2d 305, 307 (Fla. 1993); Achumba v. Neustein, 793 So. 2d 1013,

¹ Section 382.013(2)(a), Florida Statutes (2000), provides:

If the mother is married at the time of birth, the name of the husband shall be entered on the birth certificate as the father of the child, unless paternity has been determined otherwise by a court of competent jurisdiction.

1014 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>cause dismissed</u>, 805 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 2001). The term "biological father" refers to "the man whose sperm fertilized the mother's egg, usually through an act of sexual intercourse." Chris W. Altenbernd, <u>Quasi-Marital Children: The Common Law's Failure in Privette and Daniel Calls for Statutory Reform</u>, 26 Fla. St. U. L. Rev. 219, 225 (1999). In all six cases before the court, the legal fathers and the biological fathers are not the same person. Judge Altenbernd's article refers to the children of such relationships as "quasi-marital children." Altenbernd, <u>supra</u>, at 224.

"Indispensable parties are necessary parties so essential to a suit that no final decision can be rendered without their joinder." <u>Hertz Corp. v. Piccolo</u>, 453 So. 2d 12, 14 n.3 (Fla. 1984). "An indispensable party has also been described as 'one whose interest will be substantially and directly affected by the outcome of the case' and 'one whose interest in the subject matter is such that if he is not joined a complete and efficient determination of the equities and rights between the other parties is not possible." <u>Department of Revenue ex rel. Preston v. Cummings</u>, 871 So. 2d 1055, 1058 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) ("<u>Cummings</u>") (quoting <u>Amerada Hess</u> <u>Corp. v. Morgan</u>, 426 So. 2d 1122, 1125 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 436 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1983), and <u>Allman v. Wolfe</u>, 592 So. 2d 1261, 1263 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)). If plaintiff fails to join an indispensable party, the trial court must dismiss the action. <u>See Martinez v. Balbin</u>, 76 So. 2d 488, 490 (Fla. 1954); <u>Fulmer v.</u>

7

<u>Northern Central Bank</u>, 386 So. 2d 856, 858 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980), <u>rev. denied</u>, 394 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 1981).

In this case, the district court determined that the legal fathers were indispensable parties to the actions filed by the Department against the biological fathers for two basic reasons. First, an action under section 409.2564(1), Florida Statutes (2000),² to secure child support from the "obligor" must name the legal father as a party because he may owe the primary obligation to support the minor child financially. <u>See Cummings</u>, 871 So. 2d at 1059-60. Second, the legal father's parental rights may be adversely affected by the proceedings. <u>See Cummings</u>, 871 So. 2d at 1060-61. For the reasons which follow, respondents respectfully submit that the district court's analysis is correct and should be approved by this court.

1. Legal Father's Support Obligation

As noted by the court below, "[w]hen a child is born during a marriage, the legal duty to support that child presumptively rests with the parties to the

² Section 409.2564(1), Florida Statues (2000), provides in pertinent part:

In each case in which regular support payments are not being made as provided herein, the department shall institute, within 30 days after determination of the obligor's reasonable ability to pay, action as is necessary to secure the obligor's payment of current support and any arrearage which may have accrued under an existing order of support.

marriage." <u>Cummings</u>, 871 So. 2d at 1059. "This is because a child born during a marriage is presumed to be the legitimate and legal child of the husband and wife." <u>Id</u>. Based on this presumption of legitimacy with the concomitant duty of support, "so long as a couple remains married, the husband and legal father stands in loco parentis³ to the child and owes a duty of support to the child." <u>Id</u>. (footnote added) (citing <u>R.H.B. v. J.B.W.</u>, 826 So. 2d 346, 347 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); <u>G.T. v.</u> <u>Adoption of A.E.T.</u>, 725 So. 2d 404, 411 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) ("A husband is presumed to be the father of a child born during the marriage and must provide for support of the child unless and until the husband meets his burden of disproving paternity."); <u>Taylor v. Taylor</u>, 279 So. 2d 364, 366 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973)).

Because the legal father may be the very person obligated for the child's financial support, he must be joined as a party to an action filed by the Department under section 409.2564(1) to determine the child support "obligor." As explained by the district court:

Piecing together these various legal principles, the law suggests that not only is the legal father an indispensable party, he is the person the Department must usually first pursue in determining who has a duty to support the child. If the presumption of legitimacy or legal

³ The Latin phrase "in loco parentis" has been defined as "[i]n the place of a parent; charged factitiously with a parent's rights, duties, and responsibilities[,]... more specifically, the relationship which a person[] assumes toward a child not his own, holding the child out to the world as a member of his family toward whom he owes the discharge of parental duties." <u>United States v. McMaster</u>, 174 F.2d 257, 259 (5th Cir. 1949) (internal quotations and citation omitted).

fatherhood has any meaning, it must require that the State and the courts, strangers to the marital and familial relationships in these cases, look first to the legal father in trying to establish court-ordered child support. If the legal father remains in loco parentis, he may be required to fulfill the duty to support the child, <u>R.H.B.</u>, 826 So. 2d at 347, and the Department may have no basis to look elsewhere for the child's support.

<u>Cummings</u>, 871 So. 2d at 1060. Based on this rationale, "'a complete and efficient determination of the equities and rights between the other parties is not possible" without joining the legal father as a party to the Department's action. <u>Cummings</u>, 871 So. 2d at 1058 (quoting <u>Amerada Hess</u>, 426 So. 2d at 1125)).

Citing <u>Daniel v. Daniel</u>, 695 So. 2d 1253, 1254 (Fla. 1997), the Department maintains at page eight of its initial brief that "joining a husband, who is not alleged to be the biological father of the child, is not necessary since that husband has no legal support obligation once the paternity of the actual biological father is established." In <u>Daniel</u>, this court cited "the well-settled rule of law in this state that 'a person has no legal duty to provide support for a minor child who is neither his natural nor his adopted child and for whose care and support he has not contracted." (quoting <u>Albert v. Albert</u>, 415 So. 2d 818, 820 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982)). Although the court made this statement without qualification, the facts in <u>Daniel</u> indicate that the quoted rule relieves the legal father of his obligation to support a quasi-marital child only upon divorce. This assumption was confirmed by this court in <u>D.F. v. Department of Revenue ex rel. L.F.</u>, 823 So. 2d 97, 99 (Fla. 2002),

when it cited Daniel for the proposition "that a former husband who raises the issue of paternity during a dissolution of marriage proceeding has no duty to support a child he neither biologically fathered, adopted, nor contracted to care for." (emphasis supplied). See also Taylor, 279 So. 2d at 366 ("A man has no legal duty to provide support for a minor child which is neither his natural nor adopted child and for whose care and support he has not contracted. An exception to this is made in the case of one who stands in loco parentis to the child."). Thus, so long as the legal father is married to the mother of the child, he remains primarily responsible for the child's financial support. In such cases, if the legal father is joined as an indispensable party and objects to the paternity proceedings filed by the Department against the alleged biological father, and can support his objection with proof of his current family status, the court will likely dismiss the Department's action in which case the alleged biological father's paternity and his concomitant duty of support will not be established.

2. Legal Father's Parental Rights

The Department argues that the court can determine paternity in these cases without affecting the legal fathers' parental rights. In support of its argument, the Department notes that their complaints, each self-servingly labeled "Complaint to Establish Paternity, Child Support and Other Relief without Affecting Legal Rights of Husband of Mother at Time of Birth," allege in paragraph five that "Petitioners do not seek to affect any legal rights relating to this child(ren) said individual may possess." (R-I 1; R-II 1; R-III 1; R-IV 1; R-V 1). The Department contends further that none of the actions involves custody, visitation or other parental prerogatives. For the reasons discussed below, the court should reject the Department's argument.

In Achumba, 793 So. 2d at 1015, and G.F.C. v. S.G., 686 So. 2d 1382, 1386 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), the fifth district indicated that the concept of "dual fathership" between the biological father and the legal father is untenable under Florida law. According to the second district, Achumba and G.F.C. "suggest that a determination that the biological father is the 'father' of a child results in the termination of any rights theretofore held by the husband and legal father." R.H.B., 826 So. 2d at 350 n.5. This court echoed the same sentiment in Privette when it described a paternity action as "a species of termination proceeding when the petition will have the effect of vesting parental rights in the putative natural father and removing parental rights from the legal father." Privette, 617 So. 2d at 309 n. 7. See also Fernandez v. McKenney, 776 So. 2d 1118, 1121 n.5 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) (Sharp, J., concurring) ("A child can have only one legal father under our present law and that determination will resolve which man will enjoy the rights and responsibilities of fatherhood "). It stands to reason that a court should not

terminate the legal father's parental rights without making him a formal party to the action in which the court will make that critical determination.

In many cases involving what Judge Altenbernd refers to as quasi-marital children, "the legal father has established a mutually rewarding relationship with the child, he desires to continue exercising parental rights, he is supporting the child to the best of his ability, and maintaining the existing relationship is in the child's best interests." <u>Privette</u>, 617 So. 2d at 308 n.3. In such cases, the legal father "has an unmistakable interest in maintaining the relationship with his child unimpugned." <u>Id</u>. at 307. As the <u>Cummings</u> court explained:

While there may be some cases where the child has had little contact with the legal father, other cases will be quite the contrary. It is conceivable that a man who has established a loving, caring relationship of some years' duration with his legal child later will prove not to be the biological father. Where this is so, it seldom will be in the children's best interests to wrench them away from their legal fathers and judicially declare that they now must regard strangers as their fathers. The law does not require such cruelty toward children.

<u>Id</u>. at 309.

As an additional reason to name him as an indispensable party, the legal father has a strong interest in protecting the child from the stigma of illegitimacy which undoubtedly will arise if the court enters a judgment identifying the biological father as another man. As explained by the court below, if these paternity actions were allowed to proceed and the Department established that a putative biological father of a child was in fact the biological father of a child, the Department intends for the trial court to enter a judgment Despite the title of the Department's of paternity. complaint, this cannot be accomplished without affecting the legal rights of both the legal father and the child. Section 382.013(2)(d), Florida Statutes (2002), mandates that the name of the man who is determined to be the biological father in a paternity action be placed upon the birth certificate. Upon receipt of such a judgment, the Department of Health is required to prepare and file a new birth certificate reflecting the name of the biological father as the legal father. See § 382.015(2), Fla. Stat. (2002).

<u>Cummings</u>, 871 So. 2d at 1060.

The statute cited by the court below, section 382.015(2), Florida Statutes

(2002), provides:

Upon receipt of the report or a certified copy of a final decree of determination of paternity, together with sufficient information to identify the original certificate of live birth, the department shall prepare and file a new birth certificate which shall bear the same file number as the original birth certificate. The registrant's name shall be entered as decreed by the court. The names and identifying information of the parents shall be entered as of the date of the registrant's birth.

Thus, once the trial court enters a judgment identifying the putative biological father as the child's actual father, the legal father's name must be removed from the birth certificate and replaced with the name of a man who was not married to the mother on the child's date of birth. Under these circumstances, even if the

child remains technically legitimate, the stigma of illegitimacy nevertheless attaches, a stigma which should be avoided whenever possible to protect the best interests of the child.

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